

MAS-500

Building integrated photovoltaics with thermal energy storage

A Techno-economic performance assessment under grid constraints

Alexander Haugjord

Supervisor: Mohan Lal Kolhe

University of Agder, [2020]

Faculty for engineering and science Department of Engeneering sciences

Abstract

The purpose of this study is to investigate the use of thermal storage in building integrated photovoltaic (BIPV) systems for reducing energy demand during peak hours and to increase the selfconsumption. With the rapid increase in electrical appliance use, the energy usage is becoming increasingly demanding on the power grid. With the increase of demand comes inevitable changes to the electricity tariffs, and the utility may decide to limit the usage of electricity at certain hours of the day. Therefore, it is important to study the techno-economic performance of buildings with different storage options. A BIPV system for a typical household is analyzed in a mathematical model to study the effects of electric water heater (EWH) under grid constraints. Through the control of EWH based on current restrictions it was observed that the EWH successfully increased the self-consumption of the building with 4 %. The economic assessment saw a decrease in levelized cost of energy (LCOE) of 7 ØRE/kWh. These indicators can be further improved by increasing tank size as well as maximum allowable temperature. Furthermore, by making the household more reliable on the water heater, the self-consumption can also increase. Overall, the proposed logic for current regulation of the EWH proved to lower the the peaks, though further research has to be done in relation to applicability of EWH as a storage option.

Preface

I would like to extent my gratitude towards Professor at UiA, Mohan Lal Kolhe for feedback and scientific guidance throughout the writing process. I would also like to thank my girlfriend for patience and understanding, and also making me laugh when times are though. Due to the unique situation of Covid-19, the learning and writing process has been different. Nevertheless, it has shown me the value of a clear plan and working towards a goal, and has also strengthened my ability to work independent.

The knowledge given to me through the process of writing has sparked an interest in solar power. The field is also something I would like to pursue as a career.

Declaration

Individual/group mandatory Decleration

1.	I/We hereby declare that my/our report is my/our own work and that I/We have	
	not used any other sources or have received any other help than mentioned in	\boxtimes
	the report.	
2.	I/we further declare that this report:	
	- has not been used for another exam at another	
	department/university/university college in Norway or abroad;	
	 does not refer to the work of others without it being stated; 	
	 does not refer to own previous work without it being stated; 	
	- have all the references given in the literature list;	
	- is not a copy, duplicate or copy of another's work or manuscript.	
	I/we am/are aware that violation of the above is regarded as cheating and may	
3.	result in cancellation of exams and exclusion from universities and colleges in	\boxtimes
	Norway, see Universitets- og høgskoleloven §§4-7 og 4-8 og Forskrift om eksamen §§ 31.	
4.	I/we am/are aware that all submitted reports may be checked for plagiarism.	\boxtimes
	I/we am/are aware that the University of Agder will deal with all cases where	
5.	there is suspicion of cheating according to the university's guidelines for dealing	
	with cases of cheating.	
6.	I/we have incorporated the rules and guidelines in the use of sources and	
	references on the library's web pages.	

Publishing agreement

Publishing Agreement

Authorization for electronic publishing of the report.	
Author(s) have copyrights of the report. This means, among other thing	S,
the exclusive right to make the work available to the general public (And	dsverkloven. \S 2).
All theses that fulfill the criteria will be registered and published in Brag	e Aura and on
Reports that are not public or are confidential will not be published.	
I hereby give the University of Agder a free right to	
make the task available for electronic publishing:	
Is the report confidential?	LI JA 🖾 NEI
(confidential agreement must be completed	
and signed by the Head of the Department)	
- If yes:	
Can the report be published when the	
confidentiality period is over?	
Is the task except for public disclosure?	\Box JA $oxtimes$ NEI
(contains confidential information. see Offl. \S 13/Fvl. \S 13)	

Contents

	Man	datory Delcleration	v	
	Publ	ishing Agreement	vii	
1	Intro	Introduction		
	1.1	Background	1	
	1.2	Report structure	3	
2	Rese	earch question	5	
3	Theo	bry	7	
	3.1	Demand side management	7	
		3.1.1 Peak clipping	8	
		3.1.2 Valley filling	9	
		3.1.3 Load shifting	9	
	3.2	Building integrated photovoltaics	9	
	3.3	Economic assessment of BIPV	9	
4	Liter	ature Review	13	
	4.1	Industry development - Danfoss Denmark	15	
5	Role	of water heater, thermal storage with BIPV system	17	
	5.1	System description	18	
	5.2	Water heater load modeling	18	
	5.3	Water draw profile	20	
	5.4	PV production and data refining	20	
	5.5	Residential load and solar panel configuration	21	
	5.6	Grid constraints	23	
	5.7	Energy tariffs	23	
	5.8	Mathematical model	24	
		5.8.1 Data handling and model validation	24	
		5.8.2 Current control	25	
		5.8.3 Water heater status	26	

	5.9	Economic assessment	27
6	Experimental Results		29
	6.1	Effects of charging on water heater temperature and power demand - control val- idation	29
	6.2	Effect on grid purchase	30
	6.3	Effect on grid sale	31
	6.4	Effects on self-consumption and load shifting	31
	6.5	Economic assessment	32
7	Discu	ussion	33
8	Conclusion		35
9	Future work		37
Α	Appendix A		43
	A.1	Excel worksheet	43
	A.2	MatLab script	43

List of Figures

1.1	Share of Electricity consumption in Norway - 2017	2
1.2	Load shifting and valley filling	3
3.1	Overview of DSM strategies	7
3.2	Possible changes in the load curve through implementation of DSM[11]	8
5.1	Physical system	18
5.2	Water draw profile for household	20
5.3	Change in temperature due to water draw	20
5.4	Solar irradiance W/m^2 for the year 2015 $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	21
5.5	Residential load	22
5.6	Month-wise grid constraints	23
5.7	Flowchart for current control	25
5.8	Flowchart for water heater status	26
6.1	Temperature and load demand of water heater in charging mode	29
6.2	Grid purchase without thermal storage	30
6.3	Grid purchase with thermal storage	30
6.4	Grid sale	31
A.1	No storage	43
A.2	With storage	43
A.3	Inverter used for capital investment	53

List of Tables

5.1	Parameters of water heater	19
5.2	Parameters of PV panels	21
5.3	Overview of installed peak capacity and PV production	22
5.4	Inverter parameters	22
5.5	Cost model for subscribed power	23
5.6	Assumed parameters for economic assessment	27
6.1	Resulting grid purchase and over-consumption	31
6.2	Self-consumption and peak overload	31
6.3	Economic indicators	32

Acronyms

AC alternating current.

- **BIPV** Building integrated photovoltaics.
- **EWH** Electric water heater.
- **IRR** Internal rate of return.
- **kW** Kilowatt.
- kWh Kilowatt hours.
- kWp Kilowatt 'peak.
- **NPV** Net present value.
- **NVE** Norges vassdrags- og energidirektorat.
- **nZEB** near zero energy building.
- **PV** photovoltaics.
- **ZEB** Zero energy building.

Nomenclature

$C_{I\&C}$	Cost of installation and commissioning
C_{INV}	Cost of inverter
C_{NCF}	Net cash flow of system
$C_{PV,sy}$	$_{s}$ Total capital investment of system
C_{PV}	Cost of PV arrays
d	Discount rate
e_0	Operation cost rate
E_i	Energy served from system
F_i	Fuel cost
i	year
I_0	Capital investment
j	Number of inverter replacement
m	Percentage of capital investment
M_i	Operation and maintenance cost
Ν	Lifetime of PV system
n	System lifetime
OM_{PV}	Operation and management cost

- R_{INV} Inverter replacement cost
- v Total number of inverter replacements

Chapter 1

Introduction

To make the electrical grid greener and more demand-side focused and to make the transition into a "smart grid," it is recommended by the European commission that all new houses built in 2020 and forward should be near zero energy buildings(nZEB)[1]. To manage the energy demand for new buildings and reduce its dependency on the grid, generating renewable energy through solar power can reduce the net energy demand. Building-integrated photovoltaics (BIPV) systems will contribute to making buildings near net-zero energy. Due to the intermittency of solar power, energy storage will contribute to making the system more energy-efficient and demanding side focused. Azmi [2] reported that through proper energy storage, the energy performance of the buildings could be improved in regards to grid constraints.

There have been studies focused on BIPV systems, both grid and off-grid, as reported by P. Sharma et. Al.[3], it is reported that these energy systems do not consider the impact of grid constraints. The continuation of the study researched the techno-economic impact of battery storage in a BIPV system under grid constraints[4], though it is important to further investigate BIPV systems for techno-economic assessment, incorporating different storage options, such as thermal storage, with the inclusion of grid constraints.

Exploring alternative storage options is important for making building near-zero energy. Considering Nordic countries, where solar intermittence is a concern, getting the most out of the BIPV system through proper storage is important. Hirvonen et. Al[5] reports that electric heating can significantly increase the self-consumption of buildings. Considering the added expense battery storage would bring, and the environmental impact of digging for precious metals and their production, different storage options must be studied. Thus the use of electric water heater (EWH) for energy storage may reduce the environmental impact and bring economic costs down for both consumer and energy distributor.

1.1 Background

In many European countries, the electricity demand continues to rise[6], and it is becoming increasingly difficult to meet the individual demand for electricity without over-expanding the power grid. The European Commission has identified the building sector as one of the key sectors in achieving the 20/20/20¹ targets of EU. Figure 1.1 presents the electricity consumption of the different sectors in Noway in 2017.[7].

¹20% of greenhouse gas emissions compared to 1990, 20% energy savings by 2020 (compared to a business as usual scenario) and 20% share of renewables in 2020[1]



Figure 1.1: Share of Electricity consumption in Norway - 2017

The statistics show that 34% of electricity consumption comes from households and agriculture, thus making this sector a notable contributing factor. As mentioned, the European Commission has recommended that all new houses built in 2020 and forward should be near zero energy buildings. The target for Norway considering the 20/20/20 goals is that all new construction built in 2020 should be near zero energy (2014 for public buildings)[1].

A zero-energy building (ZEB) is a house or building with a net annual energy demand of zero. The use of energy in the building does not have to be zero, as long as the generation of renewable energy sources compensates for the demand[8]. A near-zero energy building (nZEB) is defined by the European Commission as a building with very high energy performance, in accordance with Annex 1[1]. Due to this legislation, it is important to develop the most effective solutions for reducing reliance on the grid. Research can prove both technically and economically valuable.

In 2017, NVE² submitted a proposal for new energy pricing mechanisms, due to the increasing power consumption in Norway[9]. The proposal was submitted considering the changes in the power grid due to the increase in population and power usage. NVE mentioned that there is a need for adjustment of power tariffs as the consumption is increasingly demanding on the grid when we want to use the electricity at the same time.

Energy pricing based on subscribed power per month was one of the proposals outlined by NVE. The end-user receives a pricing signal to reduce the consumption in hours where the demand is high. In the short term, the end-user will have the incentive to adapt to keep the consumption within grid limits. In the long term, end-users will have an economic incentive to take measures making it profitable to select a subscription-based on lower grid constraints[9].

BIPV systems can contribute to keeping the grid demand below the limit. However, grid purchase and load consumption can be further reduced through the implementation of thermal storage. Through the shifting of water heater load, the demand during peak hours can be lowered. Figure 1.2 illustrates the concept of using storage options with BIPV.

²Norges vassdrags- og energidirektorat



Figure 1.2: Load shifting and valley filling

The available solar energy can, with the usage of energy storage, shift the load to after peak hours, optimally to a point in which the energy is cheaper (e.g., Early hours). Electric battery storage options such as lead-acid or lithium-ion batteries are popular options for storing energy although vary in lifespan and costs. The lead-acid battery is less expensive than the lithium-ion but has a lower lifespan. Although electric batteries are highly reliable and offer dispatchable electricity, investigating different storage options is beneficial in terms of promoting the use of PV systems. Depending on the location and through proper management, storage can offer an increase in self-consumption and reduction of energy cost.

1.2 Report structure

The outline of this report is as follows.

• Chapter 1 - Introduction

This chapter presents the introduction to the problem along with a background for problem definition. The background outlines the demand for research in the area and expresses the idea behind photvoltaic (PV) systems in combination with storage.

• Chapter 2 - Research question

Research questions are developed based on the problem definition referenced in Chapter chapter 1, section 1.1.

• Chapter 3 - Theory

This section presents the theory for the task. Here, important concepts and equations is introduced to complete the work for this project.

• Section 4 - Literature Review

A review of the literature is presented to gain understanding and insight on the topic at hand. Previous studies made on the topic are evaluated and presented and will be further discussed in reference to the knowledge and results gained from the work.

• Section 5 - Thermal storage with PV system, role of water heater

In this section, the methodology for this work is presented. The role of the thermal heater working as storage is presented along with the BIPV system. Here the physical system is presented, and procedure for obtaining results will be explained.

• Section 6 - Results

The results section will present the outcome of the work.

• Chapter 7 - Discussion

A discussion of the results will be presented in combination with the literature to further understand the impact of the work.

• Chapter 8 - Conclusion

The final chapter will be a conclusion based on the discussion section. A definitive answer to the research questions will be presented, and suggestions for further research will be recommended.

Chapter 2

Research question

In this work, a BIPV system with thermal storage will be studied. Solar irradiance data is utilized together with a synthetic residential load profile. A model thermal storage is implemented in the system to assess techno-economic performance with regards to grid constraints. Some assumptions is made based on consumer behaviour for water draw as well as utility electricity tariffs. A system design for a household located in southern-Norway is presented where intermittent PV power generation introduces the need for thermal storage. The thermal storage will contribute to lowering the load demand during water draw and increase the self-consumption of the building. To obtain results of the BIPV system, a mathematical model is developed in MatLab. Irradiance data, residential load data, and thermal storage operation is incorporated in the model. A proposed logic is developed for the building operational performance with thermal storage regarding grid constraints. An illustrative concept of the BIPV system is presented. Calculations on the economic performance will be presented and discussed. The techno-economic performance presented will be based on the research questions:

1. How does different storage options compare to each other in a Nordic environment? The thermal storage option will be compared to other options studied in the review of literature.

2. How much will the thermal storage increase the self-consumption compared to other storage options such as battery.

3. When imposed with grid constraints, how will the BIPV system perform both technically and economically?

Chapter 3

Theory

In the interest of reducing the grid consumption, EWH is one of the most beneficial and convenient household appliances to control being the largest consumer of electricity. The EWH also works as a storage and attains advantages compared to battery storage as it accessible in every household. In this section, a description of important concepts related to a BIPV system is presented. First an overview of demand-side management strategies is presented followed by strategies for control of EWH and the impact of control. Lastly, theory behind assessing the economic performance of energy systems is presented.

3.1 Demand side management

Demand side management (DSM) is an approach for optimisation used to dictate and influence the customers use of electricity to avoid or produce changes in the utility's load curve/shape. The goal of DSM is to regulate the load curve for better balancing of the power system. Due to the lower utilisation of generation and networks (50%), DSM can significantly increase the efficiency of the power system[10]. Demand side management can be of interest to both the consumer and the provider of the energy system. Through DSM strategies, the consumer can lower their energy bill by adjusting the use and timing of their energy. Secondly, the energy system provider can benefit by avoiding high peaks, thus minimising the use of high power generators. Demand side management is an umbrella term, which has several functions for different applications and situations. Figure 3.1 presents an overview of DSM strategies.



Figure 3.1: Overview of DSM strategies

Control of electric water heater can be described as a type of direct load control. The EWH is controlled based on available capacity of the grid. Demand response strategies can be placed within two categories, dispatchable (incentive based) and non-dispatchable (pricing based). Direct load control is a strategy focusing on the reliability of the grid, with the key aspect being to improve the capacity of the power system.

Direct load control, as with any of the DSM strategies, will have impact on the load curve. Figure 3.2 illustrates the most common changes to the load curve through implementation of DSM.



Figure 3.2: Possible changes in the load curve through implementation of DSM[11]

3.1.1 Peak clipping

Peak clipping is a strategy used to reduce the peak of a load curve. This strategy uses direct load control, by shutting down equipment for short periods of time or through distributed generation stations.

3.1.2 Valley filling

This strategy encourages off-peak consumption. This method increases the efficiency of the system and is beneficial as the production costs are lower in off-peak hours, thus the average electricity price becomes lower.

3.1.3 Load shifting

This strategy is hybrid of peak clipping and valley filling. This strategy is used to move peak load to a period of lower consumption. The total consumption throughout the day remains the same.

The use of EWH as a storage option may take use of several different strategies. Peak clipping may occur by reducing the load needed at peak hours, due to a higher water temperature in the tank when solar panels are producing electricity. Valley filling can occur in the same manner, as thermal loads are shifted due to charge up of EWH. The EWH is working as a combination of peak clipping and valley filling to get a load shift of thermal demand.

3.2 Building integrated photovoltaics

Building integrated photovoltaics are photovoltaic materials used to replace conventional building materials. BIPV are increasingly being implemented in building constructions as an ancillary source of power. Buildings may also be retrofitted with similar technology.

One of the advantages of integrating photovoltaics on new buildings, is that intial cost of intallation may be reduced, by reducing the amount of building materials and labor normally used. The installation of photovoltaics may also be included in the mortgage further making it profitable and provide more incentive for consumers to favor BIPV[12].

Grid purchase is the amount of kW demanded from the grid at any time. When houses are implemented with a PV system, naturally the grid purchase will decrease due to PV production accounting for loads during day-time. Nevertheless, there is still a grid demand during early evening hours. With the implementation of water heater as a thermal storage option, the grid purchase should in theory decrease due surplus PV production is transferred to the water heater.

3.3 Economic assessment of BIPV

For assessing the economic performance of the BIPV system, the Net present value (NPC) and Levelized cost of energy (LCOE) will be evaluated with and without storage based on the technical results from the mathematical model. The economic calculations are based on the methodology reported in [[13],[14]]. Key contributions to figuring LCOE incorporate capital costs, fuel costs, fixed and variable tasks and support (O&M) costs, financing costs, and an assumed utilization rate for each plant type. The significance of every one of these components changes depending on technology. For technology with no fuel costs and smaller operation and management costs, for example, solar and wind, the LCOE changes almost proportional to the estimated capital cost[15]. Levelized cost of energy analysis is calculated using equation 3.1.

$$LCOE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{I_0 + M_i + F_i}{(1+d)^i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{E_i}{(1+d)^n}}$$
(3.1)

Where

$$i = Year$$

- n = System lifetime
- $I_0 =$ Capital investment
- $M_i = \text{Operation}$ and maintenance cost

 F_i = Fuel cost

d = Discount rate

The captital investment of the system is based on total Net cash flow (NCF) of the system referenced in [16]. The NPC is given by equation and consist of the total capital investment ($C_{PV,sys}$), the present value of operation and maintenance cost (OM_{PV}) and the present value of system replacement cost (R_{PV}). The net cash flow of the PV system ($C_{NCF,PV}$) is defined using equation 3.2.

$$C_{NCF,PV} = C_{PV,sys} + OM_{PV} + R_{INV}$$
(3.2)

The total capital investment of the PV system is the sum of component investment, PV array cost, inverter cost, and installation and comissioning cost. Given by equation

$$C_{PV,sys} = C_{PV} + C_{INV} + C_{I\&C}$$

$$(3.3)$$

The operation and maintenance cost of the PV system is defined using equation 3.4 or equations 3.5 and 3.6

$$OM_{PV} = OM_0 \left(\frac{1+e_0}{d-e_0}\right) \cdot \left[1 - \left(\frac{1+e_0}{d-e_0}\right)^N\right]$$
(3.4)

$$OM_{PV} = OM_0 \cdot N \tag{3.5}$$

$$OM_0 = m\left(C_{PV,sys}\right) \tag{3.6}$$

Where

 $e_0 = \text{Operation cost rate}$

N = Lifetime of PV system

m = Percentage of captital investment

The inverter replacement cost R_{INV} is a function of the number of inverter replacements, excluding the salvage value.

$$R_{INV} = \sum_{j=1}^{v} C_{INV} \cdot \left(\frac{1+e_0}{1+d}\right)^{\frac{N_j}{v+1}}$$
(3.7)

Where v is the total number of inverter replacement over a lifetime of N=25 years PV system.

Net Present Value (NPV) is a typical estimation of future pay (or investment funds) from a PV installation. NPV is calculated in NOK and is determined by taking away the expense of the underlying venture from the total of the complete limited future incomes over the lifetime of the speculation (i.e., the current dollar estimation of future incomes, determined utilizing the rebate rate). In sunlight based, this underlying venture is the framework cost, and future incomes are the subsequent vitality reserve funds.

A common metric to estimate the value of future income for a solar-power installation is the net present value (NPV). The NPV (given in NOK) is calculated by deducting the cost of the initial investment from the sum of the total discounted future cash flows. In solar power, this initial investment is the system cost, and future cash flows are the resulting energy savings. The NPV can be calculated using equation 3.8

$$NPV = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{Cashflow_i}{(1+d)^i}$$
(3.8)

Based on the above economic metrics, calculations on the BIPV system can be done to assess the economic implications of BIPV system with thermal storage.

Chapter 4

Literature Review

A review of the literature was done to justify the relevance of the research questions. Studies reporting on BIPV systems and their different storage options are reviewed to develop an understanding of state-of-art within the field and to compare results from similar technologies based on geographical location. The review will also be linked to the results and support its discussion.

Numerous studies have been done on techno-economic analysis of BIPV[[17], [18][19][20]]. Liu, Rasul, Amanullah, and Khan [19], performed a sensitivity analysis on the BIPV system. They concluded that larger PV systems require larger investments, though carbon emissions are reduced and creates greater financial benefits in selling surplus energy. The studies have not considered the implementation of storage and its implications on the electricity price and self-consumption, though yearly self-consumption in this system was around 61%. The study referenced feed-in tariffs (sale-back tariffs and purchasing tariffs) in Australia, where sale-back tariffs are more than twice as much as general domestic use tariffs.

Lang, Ammann, and Giro[20] investigated the economic performance of rooftop PV regarding investment opportunities. Homie, a MatLab-based model (Household model for intelligent energy supply and use), was used to study cash and electricity flow in different types of buildings (small, large residential buildings) and offices. The economic potential was evaluated based on the internal rate of return (IRR)¹ and varying electricity pricings. Results from simulation on large residential buildings show a significant feed-in remuneration. In regards to IRR, studies show that Germany, with lower solar irradiation, had a higher IRR due to comparatively lower energy prices.

Furthermore, it was noticed that relation between electricity prices and IRR was not linear, suggesting that electricity prices could, in some cases, decrease considerably before IRR is effected. The study mentioned avenues for future research, where energy storage should be investigated to extend further understanding of rooftop PV potential, as well as economic value. A BIPV system with battery storage was investigated by Linssen, Stenzel, and Flee[17]. The work looks at the effect on different consumer profiles in households. The methodology conducted was based on a modeling approach for photovoltaic battery simulation. The tool was developed based on parameter variation in PV size and storage capacity as well as economic variation opportunities such as electricity price. Operation and maintenance costs were also referenced. The consumer profiles used were constructed based on an annual usage of 5400 kWh, using a 5-minute resolution. One load profile developed, were of a standard load profile (high baseload), an aggregated load profile of a larger group of households. The article introduced the concept of autarchy². The results from the standard load profile showed that self-consumption and autarchy with PV and PV with the battery was increased in both cases. It was observed that the standard load profile, containing a higher base load reached significantly higher values for self-consumption and autarchy with the case of only PV. Adding the battery leads to a higher increase in self-consumption and

¹Internal rate of return - a discount rate that makes the net present value (NPV) of all cash flows equal to 0[21] ²the relation between energy used by the PV and energy consumed by the household

autarchy. When simulating with a more realistic, the self-consumption and autarchy were the lowest, which was also remarked for future studies, suggesting that the use of generated standard aggregated load profiles may result in too optimistic results in terms of total cost and battery sizing. Regarding the electricity prices mentioned, the assumed feed-in tariff used was more than two times lower than the electricity price.

In regards to other storage options and optimization, several studies have been conducted on the alternatives [[18],[2],[22]] Shabani and Mahmoudimehr[18] made the interesting approach of sun-tracking technology in a PV system, using pump storage to increase the potential for PV technology. It was highlighted that azimuth tracking technology leads to the closest yearly energy supply and demand compared to different PV systems, highlighting the call for research on different alternatives in PV systems and storage.

Williams, Binder, and Kelm studied thermal storage, heat pumps, and battery storage, [22] to compare self-consumption in buildings with integrated PV in Stuttgart, Germany. The proposed building had an area of 140 m^2 with four residents. The approach was based on simulation analysis of time-series of PV generation, local demand, and local demand for heat. A profile for hot water demand was developed, assuming that large water draws occur in the early hours around 6 AM and large duration water draws during evening hours. Results showed that the self-consumption of heat pump and storage could be increased from 55% to 65% self-consumption, depending on the heating load and storage tank size, pointing out that self-consumption is critically dependent on the size of the storage tank. Moreover, the useful tank size for carry-over electricity for stored heat from evening to night hours was 1000 L. Furthermore, the storage setpoint temperature was set to 53 °. The algorithmic approach in simulations implemented a "delayed charging" strategy for higher PV production months. Regarding tank sizing in regards to self-consumption and economic indicators, Baniasadi et al. [23] studied how to optimize electrical and thermal storage systems. Baniasadi remarked that thermal storage, in combination with electrical storage systems, is economically and eco-friendly options and provide more sustainable solutions for end-users compared to only electrical systems for energy management[23]. The studies were based on Monte Carlo simulation with one-year weather data as input to the model. In a sensitivity analysis, in regards to the battery and thermal storage sizing, it was indicated that in combination, the sizing of the tank should be from 1000-2000 L to achieve the lowest payback period on the system. Furthermore, the electricity cost is significantly decreased with a higher storage tank. Although the cost decrease is not linear, the optimal tank size is around 2000 I. The study was based on realtime price and time-of-use tariffs and did not sufficiently address the impacts of using a smaller, more typical residential storage tank. In regards to other economic parameters, it can be assumed that a tank size of around 1500 L would be optimal.

Thygesen and Karlsson investigated which storage system would give the highest level of PV self-consumption[24] in a 138 m^2 building with four residents. The study investigated a 48 kWh battery system versus a hot water storage tank. A reference system was developed with storage systems added and simulated for a two year period, with 3-minute intervals. A PV electricity controller was developed. The electrical heater was connected to the controller, switching it on if PV output is larger than building load. The max point temperature was 95 °C, with a tank volume of 225 liters. Electricity calculations were based on Levelized cost of energy³, and showed that

³Levelized cost of energy (LCOE), is a measure of the average net present cost of electricity generation for a generating plant over its lifetime[25]

the battery system proved twice as expensive in terms of LCOE compared to the thermal storage. The authors mention that the LCOE model is not an optimal method for assessing a system's profitability, but rather supplementing with future electricity costs when purchasing or selling. The two systems proved similar self-consumption levels, observing a 32% increase with hot water storage, up to 88%.

Hirvonen, Kayo, Hasan, and Sirén presented a study on thermal storage options in Nordic conditions[5], comparing heat pump to electric heating. The direct electric heating tank consisted of two separate layers, serving different purposes. Domestic hot water taken from the top layer having tank temperature increase to a maximum of 70 °C. The lower part of the tank was used for space heating. The tank sizing used in the study were 300 L. Self-consumption increased from 15% to 70% using direct electric heating. It is important to note that the space heating demand was relatively great in this study, accounting for 54% of total demand. Hot water demand was 17.9%. Additionally, the energy pricing for feed-in tariffs was assumed to be based on Finnish standards and is half the electricity buying price. In another study, looking at optimal system sizing for heat pumps and thermal storage [26], Fischer et al. concluded that integrating PVs on already existing houses does not require an increase in thermal storage size. It is also implied that through overheating of thermal storage, that additional storage capacity is economically viable.

In regards to potential grid constraints, Sharma, Mohan, and Sharma[4] presented a study on the techno-economic performance of BIPV using battery storage under grid constraints as a continuation of previous work on BIPV with battery storage; the results showed that under monthlyfixed and yearly-fixed power contribution from the grid, the PV system with battery storage could perform a better energy throughput. In regards to net present costs (NPC), it was shown to be higher when implemented with energy storage. Furthermore, in reference to policymakers, the demand side should favor high self-consumption when implementing PV. It was also concluded that the BIPV system with energy storage is beneficial both economically and technically when integrated with appropriate energy tariff and control strategies to reduce annualized energy costs. Azmi [2] mentions that through proper energy storage, energy performance could be further increased in regards to grid constraints.

Several studies have been done on utilizing PV power for auxiliary heating using hybrid photovoltaicthermal systems, implemented with solar thermal collectors. Regarding true PV, studies on energy storage are mostly focused on batteries, not thermal storage[5]. Assumptions made in this work are based on the research articles reviewed.

4.1 Industry development - Danfoss Denmark

With regards to researching thermal storage options and their technical performance, HORFOR (greater Copenhagen utility) district heating was established in Denmark as a demonstration project in 2018. Through district heating and sector coupling, the heat pump on the Flexheat plant supplies three cruise ship terminals and UNICEF warehouse through a thermal boiler. The FlexHeat facility has a heating capacity of 1MW, enabled by the heat pump based on groundwater. The tank is 100 cubic meters and corresponds to a 4 MWh battery. The estimated CO2 savings are 315 tonnes annually[27]. This project highlights the potential of thermal storage and why it is essential for researchers to study its potential usage.
Role of water heater, thermal storage with BIPV system

This study's general goal is to assess the technical and economic performance of using buildingintegrated solar panels with thermal storage. In a household, the water heater can be used as a thermal storage option. By controlling of current to the water heater, self-consumption can be increased, and further avoiding load above grid limits. The goal is to charge the water heater during high solar electricity production and distribute the stored energy when demand is high or when the load is approaching grid constraints, thereby reducing the need for grid purchase. A control for the current is designed in the MatLab environment and data based on solar irradiance, and the residential load is used to develop a mathematical model where a profile for monthlyfixed grid constraints is developed based on the residential load profile. A profile based on water draw is designed based on assumptions taken from the literature review. In addition to modeling a building capable of having an energy demand below the grid constraints, the study will investigate if the household is capable of becoming a near zero-energy building. Economic assessments are done based on results from the mathematical model.

5.1 System description

A general overview of the system is shown in figure 5.1. The solar panels are building integrated, but can also be retrofitted on the roof of the building. A solar inverter enables electricity to appliances. Input from the power grid covers the remaining household load, though limited by the subscribed power to the household (grid constraints). The thermal load (water heater) is controlled based on current available from the grid and solar production.



Figure 5.1: Physical system

The grid supplies 230 V AC (alternating current) to the household and receives surplus energy from the PV system. The PV system has a peak capacity of 7.36 kWp. The water heater has a capacity of 300 liters and a 2.5 kW heating element pertaining to four residents.

5.2 Water heater load modeling

This section presents the development of the water heater load model, together with its validation and aggregation to obtain load profiles of the water heating load.

To design a functional controller, a load model for the water heater is developed based on the DR(demand response)-enabled water heating load model by Shao[28]. The load model is used in the mathematical model in MatLab. The water heater temperature is calculated according to equation 5.1[28].

$$T_{outlet,i+1} = \frac{T_{outlet,i}(V_{tank} - fr_i \cdot \Delta T)}{V_{tank}} + \frac{T_{inlet} \cdot fr_i \cdot \Delta t}{V_{tank}} + \frac{1gal}{8.34lb} \left[p_{WH,i} \cdot \frac{3412Btu}{kWh} - \frac{A_{tank} \cdot (T_{outlet} - T_a)}{R_{tank}} \right]$$
(5.1)
$$\frac{\Delta t}{V_{tank}}$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} T_{inlet} &= {\rm Temperature \ of \ inlet \ water \ (^\circ {\rm F})} \\ T_a &= {\rm Room \ temperature \ (^\circ {\rm F})} \\ fr_i &= {\rm Hot \ water \ flow \ rate \ in \ time \ slot \ i \ (gpm)} \\ A_{tank} &= {\rm Surface \ area \ of \ the \ tank \ (ft^2)} \\ V_{tank} &= {\rm Volume \ of \ tank \ (gallons)} \\ R_{tank} &= {\rm Heat \ resistance \ of \ tank \ (^\circ F \cdot ft^2 \cdot h/Btu)} \\ \Delta t &= {\rm duration \ of \ each \ timeslot \ (minutes)} \end{array}$

The power to the EWH is calculated using equation 5.2

$$p_{WH,i} = p_{WH} \cdot WWH_i \tag{5.2}$$

Where WWH_i is the control signal given to the EWH (1 or 0).

The parameters selected for the water heater model is based on assumptions referring to a typical household of 4 residents. One minute resolution is used in the implementation, which is also based on the suggestion made by[17]. Table 5.1 presents a summary of data used in the water heater model, which includes details of the water tank, water temperatures, power consumption, and water usage profile.

Parameter	Value
T_{max}	157 °F
$T_{WH,s}$	140 °F
T_{low}	120 °F
T_{inlet}	68 °F
T_a	68 °F
fr_i	Appendix
A_{tank}	14 ft^2
V_{tank}	80 gallons
R_{tank}	16 °F $\cdot ft^2 \cdot h/Btu$ [29]
ΔT	1 minute
$P_{WH,max}$	2.5 kW
η	0.80

Table 5.1: Parameters of water heater

Where,

 $\begin{array}{ll} T_{max} &= {\rm Max\ charge-up\ temperature} \\ T_{WH,s} &= {\rm Hot\ water\ setpoint\ temperature} \\ T_{outlet,i} &= {\rm Outlet\ water\ temperature\ of\ the\ tank\ (Temperature\ inside\ tank)} \\ \Delta T_{WH} &= {\rm Minimum\ temperature\ of\ the\ tank} \\ W_{WH,i} &= {\rm Status\ of\ the\ water\ heater\ in\ time\ slot\ i\ (minutes)} \end{array}$

5.3 Water draw profile

As the power demand of the water heater depends on the usage, a water draw profile for the hot water flow rate is developed. NVE estimates that around 13 % of the energy usage in a household goes to water heating[30]. The usage pattern is assumed to reflect a typical household of 4 residents and is presented in figure 5.2, where *gallons/min* is used as a reference unit. A 1-minute resolution for the flow rate is used to coincide with the residential load demand profile. Figure 5.3 presents the effects of water draw on the temperature levels of the water heater and its effect on load demand.



Figure 5.2: Water draw profile for household



Figure 5.3: Change in temperature due to water draw

5.4 PV production and data refining

The irradiance data used for this thesis is provided by the University of Agder (UiA). Solar panels placed at the roof of UiA is processed in the MatLab environment. The data is updated every minute, but with some variance, meaning that the data may update some seconds before or after. It is therefore converted to fixed 1-minute intervals to be used in accordance with the residential load demand and water draw profile. Technical parameters for the solar panels are based on the

performance assessment by Paudyal and Imenes [31]. Table 5.2 (manufactured by Sunpower SPR 230NE-BLK-I) shows the technical parameters from the performance assessment.

Peak power Pmpp	225 W (+5%)
Cell efficiency	22.7 %
Panel efficiency	18.5 %
Rated voltage Vmp	29.6.5 V
Rated current Imp	7.61 A
Open-Circuit voltage	36.7 V
Short-Circuit current	8.15 A
Max system voltage	600 V
Short-Circuit current Max system voltage	8.15 A 600 V

Table 5.2: Parameters of PV panels

The yearly solar irradiance W/m^2 can be seen in figure 5.4. Location 58°20'02.0"N 8°34'38.1"E. The PV system is installed on the south-facing roof, with a tilt angle of 39°[31].



Figure 5.4: Solar irradiance W/m^2 for the year 2015

5.5 Residential load and solar panel configuration

Load data was synthesized in HOMER Grid software specifying typical load profiles included with some randomness. HOMER Grid lets the user choose among different types of load profiles, from residential and commercial to industry and community. A synthetic load based on residential was selected to create an annual load profile for a typical household in the software. An option to select peak month is used and set to January to get cyclic annual variation. To fit the application, the option for "Scaled Annual Average (kWh/day)" is used. Based on a typical Norwegian household minus load demand of the water heater, the kWh/day parameter was set to 37.26. Data from the software is interpolated for minutely values to coincide with the 1-minute resolution of the mathematical model. Figure 5.5 presents the annual load in (kW).



Figure 5.5: Residential load

An overview of the housing parameters are shown in Table 5.3, based on research development by Azmi [2], and Sharma et. Al[4].

Table 5.3:	Overview	of installed	peak ca	pacity	and PV	production

Usable roof (south facing)			Installed	l PV		
Lenght (m)	Width (m)	Area (m^2)	Strings	Modules	Module area (m^2)	Capacity (kWp)
12.2	4.7	57.43	2	16	39.9	7.36

The inverter is implemented as part of the system based on the system description in section 5.1 and will present a major factor in the economic assessment. The inverter (INVT - BG7 3-phase[Appendix]) was selected based on the characteristics of the solar panel's max capacity. The inverter[32] is of 3-phase with a maximum efficiency of 98.2%. It has a power rating of 7kW. For ideal operation, the DC voltage range should be between 180-800 for each string. The DC current per MPPT must not exceed Max. DC current.

Table 5.4: Inverter parameters

Parameter	Value
Input (DC) Max. DC voltage (V)	1000
Starting Voltage (V)	200
Min. Operating Voltage	180
MPPT operating voltage	(180-800)/610
range (V) / Rated voltage (V)	(180-800)/010
Rated power voltage range	220-800
Number of MPPT/String per MPPT	2/3
Max DC power (W)	7300
Max. DC current (A) per MPPT	10.2
 number of MPPT 	13.5
Rated power (W)	7000

The inverter will add to the capital investments when looking at the economic performance of the BIPV. Nevertheless, replacement of inverter might be necessary. In that case, the inverter price of 21500 NOK is included for economic assessment.

5.6 Grid constraints

The utility may impose a grid limit on the household due to energy tariffs based on subscribed power proposed by NVE. This grid limit may be fixed based on month or season. In this work, a proposed grid limit of month-wise fixed is evaluated to study the techno-economic performance of the BIPV. Figure 5.6 presents the monthly fixed grid constraints.



Figure 5.6: Month-wise grid constraints

The monthly-fixed limits are constructed based on the residential load profile, where the monthly values are calculated following the monthly average peak load of the household.

5.7 Energy tariffs

With the reference to the new pricing models proposed by NVE, the energy tariffs are constructed based on their proposal with some assumptions based on geographical location. Table 5.5 presents the proposed model for energy tariffs.

Table 5.5:	Cost model	for subscribed	power
------------	------------	----------------	-------

Fixed price	Subscribed power	Energy tariff	Overconsumption tariff
2640 (NOK/year)	643 (NOK/kW limit)	70 (Øre/kWh)	125 (Øre/kWh)

Where subscribed power is assumed based on geographical location of the BIPV system (e.g. Southern-Norway), the energy tariff and overconsumption tariff is based on the proposal from NVE and proposed pricings made in a pilot project by Lyse Nett[33]. The assumed energy tariffs will contribute to the economic assessment. The over-consumption tariff may play a significant factor on the Net present cost of the system over a lifetime. Furthermore, when producing solar power, some energy will be distributed back to the grid. In that regard, the feed-in tariff is assumed to be 50 RE/kWh

5.8 Mathematical model

A mathematical model was developed in a MatLab environment to obtain technical results from the proposed BIPV system with thermal storage. Conditional programming was used to develop the control of water heater. Parameters of the water heater, the residential load, PV production, and grid constraints were implemented in the model. The water heater profile is assumed to be a normal daily usage pattern throughout the year and is therefore repeated for the simulation time. Results from the simulation are presented in the results section to evaluate the techno-economic performance of the system.

5.8.1 Data handling and model validation

Parameters for the load model was set up in the mathematical model. A for loop was constructed in the model, implementing equation 5.1 based on outlet temperature of the water heater. A fixed value for the rated power of EWH is used. To test and validate the load model - simulations were ran with a randomized water draw profile. A simple control of the EWH is implemented where the turn-on signal $WWH_i = 1$ is given when temperature is below the minimum limit T_low and turn-off signal is given $WWH_i = 0$ when the temperature is above maximum limit $T_{WH,s}$.

The irradiance data from Excel was transferred to the MatLab workspace. The data contained minutely values, though not exact - so the values for date and time had to be redefined to mean values over the minute. By analysis of the irradiance data, the years 2014, and 2016-18 proved to have substantial amount of missing data scattered over large timeframes, making it difficult to obtain a realistic yearly irradiance curve without manipulating the data.

The year 2015 showed less data missing and was therefore used in the model. The data for irradiance was used in equation 5.3 to obtain minutely values of PV production of the building.

$$PV_{production} = Irradiance \cdot Area \cdot Panel_{eff}$$
(5.3)

Data for the residential load based on average hourly values was initially implemented in the model but proved hard to manipulate and less ideal when using a 1-minute resolution for the simulation. New data sets was then taken from the HOMER Grid software referenced in section 5.5.

As referenced in section 5.1, the thermal load is controlled based on current available from the grid and solar power. The control based on these currents will be discussed in laters sections. To get the power available from the grid - an assumption was made on the behavior of the household-, that over-consumption occurs during peak hours. Therefore, grid constraints was constructed based on the monthly maximum peak. The grid constraints for the proposed household was set to be a fraction of the monthly peak.

Furthermore, the currents for solar, grid and residence were calculated based on the system voltage V_{sys} referenced in section 5.1 and is given by equation 5.4.

$$I = \frac{P}{V}$$
(5.4)

Where the value for power P is determined based on the the purpose (e.g solar panels, residence, grid).

5.8.2 Current control

The system model was simulated in 1-minute intervals over a 365 day period to obtain yearly results. Figure 5.7 present a flowchart of the system with control signals and the logic used.



Figure 5.7: Flowchart for current control

If the water heater's outlet temperature is less than the minimum allowable temperature T_{low} , the water heater is set to rated power to maintain a comfortable temperature level. If there is available solar current, $I_{pv}(t) > I_l(t)$ (e.g. Solar supply is higher than load demand), the current available to boiler $I_b(t)$ is the delta ΔI between those currents. At high solar power production, the current available is sometimes above the rated current of the water heater. For this instance, the current is set to rated current. Else, if solar supply is below load demand, the current available to the water heater, $I_b(t)$ is ΔI between the grid constraints and load current. Furthermore, if the current calculation is below zero at any point, the current is set to zero. The current control can also be expressed, as seen in the conditions below.

$$I_{b,i} = \begin{cases} I_l(t) - I_g(t) + I_{PV}(t) & I_{PV}(t) < I_l(t) \\ I_{PV}(t) - I_l(t) & I_{PV}(t) > I_l(t) \\ I_{b,max} & I_b(t) \ge I_{b,max} \\ 0 & I_b(t) < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

5.8.3 Water heater status

Figure 5.8 represents a flowchart for deciding the status of the water heater.



Figure 5.8: Flowchart for water heater status

In the figure, WWHi = 0 and WWHi = 1 represents the status of the water heater. 0 is off, and 1 being on. $T_{outlet,i}$, the outlet temperature is calculated. If the temperature is below the threshold, the water heater is turned on. For regular operation, if the outlet temperature is above setpoint temperature T_{max} , the water heater is turned off. For charging of water heater, the status is based on available current to the boiler. If there is available solar current after covering the load demand, the water heater is on, until reaching max point temperature for charging T_{max} .charge.

Based on the proposed logic in the mathematical model, the grid purchase was calculated using equation 5.6.

$$Grid_{purchase} = Total_{load} - PV_{production}$$
 (5.6)

Where $Total_{load}$ is the combination of load from the residence added with the load from the water heater. Considering the logic used in the model, the power used by the water heater during charge-up has to be deducted from the equation. Furthermore, at times where solar production is below zero, grid purchase will be negative, therefore set to zero.

Furthermore, to obtain technical results, the power sold to the grid is calculated using equation 5.7.

$$Grid_{sale} = PV_{production} - Total_{load}$$
 (5.7)

Again, if the value is below zero, the grid purchase is zero. To calculate the self-consumption of the building, equation 5.8

$$Self_{consumption} = \frac{PV_{consumed}}{PV_{production}}$$
(5.8)

5.9 Economic assessment

To make an assessment of the economic parameters, results from the technical model in MatLab is used in evaluation. Assumptions based on previous research in the field[[31],[4],[34],[35],[16]] was used and is presented in table 5.6.

Table 5.6: Assumed parameters for economic assessment

Parameter	Value
Future value discount rate (%)	5.5[4]
Electricity price inflation rate (%)	1.9[4]
Operation and maintenance rate (%)	1[34]
Operation and maintenenace cost (NOK)	717.2
Annual output degredation (%)	0.17[31]
System captital investment(NOK)	71782 [36]
Inverter replacement time (years)	15[16]
Inverter replacement cost (NOK)	21500
Operating cost rate (%)	5.5[16]

Excel was used to calculate the indicators for economic assessment based on equations presented in section 3.3. For calculating the operation and maintenance cost, equation 3.5 is used as the discount rate d and operating cost rate e_0 is equal. A lifetime of 25 years to obtain the LCOE value for the system with and without thermal storage. The spreadsheet for calculations is found in Appendix where yearly values for the NPV is found based on equation 3.8.

Experimental Results

This section introduces the experimental results from the mathematical model. Results will show the technical effect on the technical parameters of the BIPV model. The mathematical model is simulated for an entire year, with minutely iteration. Economic assessment will be based on the results gathered from the system model.

6.1 Effects of charging on water heater temperature and power demand - control validation

For a typical day with PV production, the BIPV system utilizes surplus energy to charge the water heater. The daily profile for water heater charging is presented in figure 6.1. According to the methodology presented in Chapter chapter 5, to maximize the use of solar power, the tank temperature is increased during high PV production.

The figure includes start-up of the water heater occurring at 00:00 in the morning, displaying a rated power demand at this time. The water heater is fully charged to the set-point temperature at 01:15 AM. Stand-by losses are evident by the slight decrease in temperature from 01:15 to 06:00. At 06:00 the first water draw occurs based on figure 5.2, with a flow rate of 0.2 gallons/min for 16 minutes. At 06:30 the next water draw occurs with a flow rate of 0.4 gallons/min for a duration of 5 minutes. Two more water draws occurs resulting in a drop of water temperature below the minimum limit T_{min} . Based on the controller logic, the grid is now forced to supply the water heater with rated power, resulting in a spike in load demand. At 09:00 the solar cells are producing surplus power. The tank temperature T_{max} of 70 degrees at at 09:30. Additional water draws occur throughout the day, however, the surplus PV production upholds the water temperature during this period. At time 17:15, additional water draw of 2 gallons/min for a duration of 12 minutes occurs.



Figure 6.1: Temperature and load demand of water heater in charging mode

6.2 Effect on grid purchase

To analyze the performance of the BIPV system with thermal storage, the difference in grid purchase with and without thermal storage is evaluated. It has been assumed in this work, that the system operator is imposing a month-wise maximum grid supply limit. Therefore, it is interesting to analyse the grid contributions with month-wise limits. Figure 6.2 and figure 6.3 presents the annual electricity purchased from the grid.

The figures shows minutely values of grid purchase. It can be seen that the grid purchase is mostly kept below the the grid constraints presented in figure 5.6. It is also noticeable that there are spikes in grid purchase extending above the grid constraints. Furthermore, analysis shows the water heater load is also contributing to electricity over-consumption.



Figure 6.2: Grid purchase without thermal storage

Figure 6.3 presents the grid purchase when the system is implemented with thermal storage. Noticeable from the figure, is that there are less spikes in grid purchase during summer months due and the overall power purchased from the grid is lower.



Figure 6.3: Grid purchase with thermal storage

Table 6.1 presents the technical indicators of the system. The implications of the results will be further discussed in chapter 7

	Storage	No storage
Overconsumption (kWh)	613.93	692.25
Grid purchase (MWh)	10.58	10.74
Percentage overconsumption (%)	5.79	6.44

Table 6.1: Resulting grid purchase and over-consumption

6.3 Effect on grid sale

As referenced in Background, when PV production is in surplus, the energy is transferred to the grid (grid sale). For the end-user, excess solar energy is bought by the utility, usually at a lower price, due to low power demand at these times. Therefore, storing energy becomes more beneficial both for the end-user and the utility, so it can be distributed at a later time. Therefore, impact on the feed-in electricity is important to assess.

Figure 6.4 presents the grid sale with and without energy storage for the entire year. Evident by the figure is that the grid sale is decreased using thermal storage. Analysis of the results shows that when having a storage option of water heater, 2.99 MWh is sold back to the grid. Without the storage, the grid sale is 3.27 MWh.





6.4 Effects on self-consumption and load shifting

Load shifting is referenced in section 1.1 for reducing stress on the grid during peak hours and also decrease the electricity bill. One of the main reasons for thermal storage implementation is to shift the thermal load to off-peak hours, thereby reducing the electricity bill. Results taken from the mathematical model is presented in table6.2.

Table 6.2:	Self-cons	sumption	and	peak	overload
------------	-----------	----------	-----	------	----------

	With storage	Without storage
Self-consumption (%)	57.44	53.49
Peak overload(kWh)	242.6	314.5

It can be seen from the table that the self-consumption is increased by 3.95 %. The peak overload, - load comsumed above grid constraints during peak hours is decreased with 51 kWh when implementing thermal storage.

6.5 Economic assessment

For assessing the economic performance of the BIPV under grid constraints, the solar panels and inverter is assumed to be included in the capital investment. The economic assessment is based on energy pricing referenced in chapter 5 to calculate the yearly electricity bill. According to the energy tariffs the grid limit plays a major role in electricity pricing. Grid sale together will grid purchase and the overloading of grid limits will determine if the energy bill is decreased and whether or not the storage option has any effects on the yearly bill.

The Excel spreadsheet found in Appendix is used to calculate the economic parameters. Table presents the economic indicators for performance assessment.

	Storage	No storage
Net present cost	33541 NOK	34582 NOK
LCOE	1.136	1.207
Total annualized cost	1913 NOK	2105 NOK

Table 6.3: I	Economic	indicators
--------------	----------	------------

Results from the mathematical model show that annually, a total of 488.5 kWh is load above the grid constraints. Comparing this results with the total grid purchase throughout the year of 10.8 MWh, the calculations show that 4.52% of grid purchase is above the grid constraints.

Analysis shows there is a slight decrease in grid purchase using the water heater. When applying the storage option, the yearly grid purchase is lowered with 300 kWh. This will contribute to lowering the energy bill for the end-user. With reference to the grid constraints, it should be noted that without storage option, the load demand peak is considerably higher which is causing the load to more frequently reach above the grid constraints.

Discussion

This section presents the discussion on the techno-economic perforamance of the BIPV system with thermal storage. Results based on the difference in technical and economic indicators of the system with and without storage is evaluated in reference to the research questions presented in chapter 2.

One of the main objectives for this work was to compare the different storage options in a Nordic environment. In chapter 4, we reviewed several studies on the techno-economic analysis of BIPV systems. With reference to self-consumption in Sweden, Thygesen and Karlsson[24] saw an increase in self-consumption of 32%, up to 88%. The system studied in the present work, saw an increase of 4%. A large discrepancy is seen between the two systems. Most likely, this is due to a larger thermal load demanded by the water heater, whereas in the present case, the water heater demand was 13% of the total load. Furthermore, the maximum charge up temperature level used in the controller was 95°C, compared to 70°C, which also cause a larger increase in thermal energy potential.

Hirvonen et al.[5] used 300 litres and a temperature max limit of 70 °C, similar parameters to the present study. They saw a large increase in self-consumption from 15% to 70%. It is important to note that the water heater also distributed energy for space heating, having a load demand accounting for 54%, as opposed to the present study, where only 13% of total demand is assumed for the water heater.

According to Willams et al[22] self-consumption percentage is critically dependent on tank volume. The same study saw an increase from 55% to 65% using heat pump and storage. In comparing the tank volumes, there is a significant difference (300 litres cs 1000 litres), indicating that a larger tank size would increase the self-consumption of the system in this work.

With regards to peak overload, a 23% decrease was seen using thermal storage. According to Williams et al. [22] This value may be further decreased, when implemented with "delayed charging" to higher prevailing irradiation months, May to September.

By reviewing the economic results, a decrease was seen for all the economic indicators, using thermal storage. The LCOE with thermal storage was lower that without storage. In comparison, Mohan et al saw an LCOE of 1.17 NOK/kWh under monthly-fixed grid limits, where capital investment of battery was considered and a system time of 10 year. In the economic analysis, the present study found a LCOE of 1.136 NOK/kWh, though a higher capital investment was assumed and a system time of 25 years.

Furthermore, the economic performance of BIPV with energy storage system mainly depends on the assumptions associated with PV and battery costs, as mentioned by Sharma et al. [3]. Moreover, Baniasadi et al.[23] studied the optimal tank size in regards to economic indicators, proving that a tank size of 1000-2000 would achieve the best results when looking at economic indicators.

In regards to feed-in tariffs, the studies reviewed varied in pricing, from twice the price of grid purchase to half the price, indicating that assumption on pricing may distort results. Although, as seen in [20], the IRR does not correlate with electricity pricing in a linear way, suggesting that assumption based on tariffs may not have a significant impact the resulting economics. On the other hard, Linssen et. Al[17] remarks that development of electricity pricing is a sensitive parameter regarding modelling, and that assumptions of a constant energy pricing increase can lead to large uncertainties.

Ultimately the goal of the thermal storage is to lower the congestion on the grid. For the end user, a decrease in grid purchase and and increased self-consumption will contribute to lowering the energy bill as seen in this study.

Conclusion

For penetration of renewable energy, there are still issues facing a massive takeover, namely the need for quick, efficient balancing generators running on fossil fuels. A key component to reduce the need for these balancing units are efficient storage options. Large battery storage options and smart grids can contribute to less cycling of coal plants, but by making households less reliant on grid supply through efficient use of storage, the grid supply may also be reduced during peak load periods. Therefore, the research on finding the appropriate energy storage for buildings is of importance. By utilizing already existing components for storage, such as water heaters, the self-consumption may increase, and reliance on the grid reduced.

This study investigated the techno-economic effects of implementing thermal storage. Future grid tariffs based on subscribed power was also considered. Based on technical parameters, a decrease in power purchased from the grid and grid sale was seen. The system self-consumption was also increased when implemented with thermal storage. Furthermore, the economic indicators show that the Levelized cost of energy decreased with 7 ØRE/kWh. In regards to the electricity bill, the net present cost of the system was lower when the electricity bill was based on subscribed power.

There is research done on the effectiveness of thermal storage, but geographical conditions will vary in regards to the appropriate storage option. Therefore it is essential to investigate the effects of thermal storage considering grid constraints and battery storage in Nordic areas. Although the thermal storage will charge during high PV production, the issue becomes how well it distributes across the day compared to a battery with dispatchable demand. Tough, the study showed that load shifting is possible using thermal storage, observing a 23% decrease in peak overload compared to no storage.

The system developed in this work assumed that the hot water load demand is 13%. Based on previous research reviewed, a more significant load demand and an increase in tank volume and temperature can further enhance the self-consumption of BIPV systems. In regards to a typical household integrated with solar panels, a small retrofit by opting for a change-up of electric water heater can contribute to lowering the energy bill, and in return, reduce the LCOE.

The overall intermittency of the load and the PV production can be overcome through efficient energy storage of BIPV systems. Energy storage can also assist in demand-side management and help in strengthening the system stability.

Future work

BIPV systems with thermal storage should be further researched for Nordic areas. Researchers should look to increase the self-consumption and decrease the LCOE. Studies focused on a typical household should look at increasing tank temperature further above the max limit in combination with space heating. A combination system using thermal and battery storage should also be investigated to further increase the economic attractiveness of BIPV systems and to reduce LCOE.

Bibliography

- [1] A. Hermelink, S. Schimschar, and T. Boermans, *Towards nearly zero-energy buildings definition of common principles under the epbd final report*, https://ec.europa.eu/energy/ sites/ener/files/documents/nzeb_full_report.pdf, Feb. 2013.
- [2] A. N. Azmi, "Grid interaction performance evaluation of bipv and analysis with energy storage on distributed network power management," PhD thesis, UiA, 2017. [Online]. Available: %7Bhttps://uia.brage.unit.no/uia-xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/ 2433000/Azmi_PhD.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y%7D.
- [3] P. Sharma, M. Kolhe, and A. Sharma, "Economic analysis of a building integrated photovoltaic system without and with energy storage," ser. IOP Conf, 2019. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/605/1/ 012013/meta%7D.
- [4] ——, "Economic performance assessment of building integrated photovoltaic system with battery energy storage under grid constraints - sciencedirect," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 145, pp. 1901–1909, Jan. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S096014811931119X.
- J. Hirvonen, G. Kayo, A. Hasan, and K. Sirén, "Zero energy level and economic potential of small-scale building-integrated PV with different heating systems in Nordic conditions," *Applied Energy*, vol. 167, pp. 255–269, 2016, ISSN: 03062619. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy. 2015.12.037. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015. 12.037.
- [6] Electricity production, consumption and market overview statistics explained, https:// ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Electricity_ production,_consumption_and_market_overview#Household_electricity_ consumption, Jun. 2019.
- [7] Elektrisitet årlig ssb, https://www.ssb.no/energi-og-industri/statistikker/ elektrisitet/aar, Dec. 2019.
- [8] K. Peterson, P. Torcellini, and R. Grant, "A common definition for zero energy buildings," ser. US dep. Energy, Sep. 2015. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www.energy. gov/sites/prod/files/2015/09/f26/bto_common_definition_zero_energy_ buildings_093015.pdf%7D.
- [9] Forslag til endring i forskrift om kontroll av nettvirksomhet Utforming av uttakstariffer i distribusjonsnettet, (Accessed on 05/15/2020), NVE, Nov. 2017. [Online]. Available: %5Curl% 7Bhttp://webfileservice.nve.no/API/PublishedFiles/Download/201706767/ 2242754%7D.
- [10] G. Strbac, "Demand side management: Benefits and challenges sciencedirect," Energy policy, vol. 36, pp. 4419–4426, Dec. 2008. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421508004606%7D.

- [11] Z. Solanki, U. Wani, and J. Patel, "Demand side management program for balancing load curve for cgpit college, bardoli," in 2017 International Conference on Energy, Communication, Data Analytics and Soft Computing (ICECDS), 2017, pp. 769–774. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8389542.
- [12] Bipv for norway. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttp://bipvno.no/%7D.
- [13] L. Mendicino, D. Menniti, A. Pinnarelli, and N. Sorrentin, Corporate power purchase agreement: Formulation of the related levelized cost of energy and its application to a real life case study - sciencedirect, Nov. 2019. [Online]. Available: %5Curl % 7Bhttps://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261919312516%7D.
- [14] X. Li, Alexander, L. C.-H. Young, Y. Dai, and Chi-HwaWang, "Energetic and economic evaluation of hybrid solar energy systems in a residential net-zero energy building - sciencedirect," Applied Energy, vol. 254, Nov. 2019. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261919313960%7D.
- [15] Levelized cost and levelized avoided cost of new generation resources, https://www.eia. gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/electricity_generation.pdf.
- [16] A. S. et al, Performance assessment of institutional photovoltaic based energy system for operating as a micro-grid - sciencedirect, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S2213138819303224, Oct. 2019.
- J. Linssen, P. Stenzel, and J. Fleer, "Techno-economic analysis of photovoltaic battery systems and the influence of different consumer load profiles q," *Applied Energy*, vol. 185, no. 2017, pp. 2019–2025, 2019, ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.11. 088. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.11.088.
- [18] M. Shabani and J. Mahmoudimehr, "Techno-economic role of pv tracking technology in a hybrid pv-hydroelectric standalone power system - sciencedirect," *Applied Energy*, vol. 212, pp. 84–108, Feb. 2018. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0306261917317452%7D.
- G. Liu, M. G. Rasul, M. T. O. Amanullah, and M. M. K. Khan, "Techno-economic simulation and optimization of residential grid-connected PV system for the Queensland climate," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 45, pp. 146–155, 2012, ISSN: 0960-1481. DOI: 10.1016/j.renene. 2012.02.029. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2012.02.029.
- [20] T. Lang, D. Ammann, and B. Girod, "Profitability in absence of subsidies: A techno-economic analysis of rooftop photovoltaic self-consumption in residential and commercial buildings - sciencedirect," *Renewable energy*, vol. 87, no. part 1, pp. 77–87, Mar. 2016. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0960148115303384%7D.
- [21] A. Hayes, Internal rate of return irr definition, https://www.investopedia.com/ terms/i/irr.asp, Apr. 2020.
- [22] C. J. C. Williams, J. O. Binder, and T. Kelm, "Demand side management through heat pumps, thermal storage and battery storage to increase local self-consumption and grid compatibility of pv systems," in 2012 3rd IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Europe (ISGT Europe), 2012, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ISGTEurope.2012.6465874.

- [23] B. Ali, H. Daryoush, A.-S. Waleed, M. M. A.S., D. C. K., and M. Navid, "Optimal sizing design and operation of electrical and thermal energy storage systems in smart buildings," *Journal of Energy Storage*, vol. 28, p. 101 186, Apr. 2020. [Online]. Available: https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352152X19311545%7B%5C# %7Dbib0007.
- [24] R. Thygesen and B. Karlsson, "Simulation and analysis of a solar assisted heat pump system with two different storage types for high levels of pv electricity self-consumption - sciencedirect," Solar Energy, vol. 103, pp. 19–27, May 2014. [Online]. Available: %7Bhttps: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X14000917%7D.
- [25] Levelized cost of energy wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Levelized_ cost_of_energy.
- [26] D. Fischer, K. Byskov, H. Madani, and C. Wittwer, "Impact of PV and variable prices on optimal system sizing for heat pumps and thermal storage," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 128, pp. 723–733, 2016, ISSN: 0378-7788. DOI: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.07.008. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.07.008.
- [27] Electrification and sector coupling achieve co2 goals at flexheat nordhavn / danfoss, https: //www.danfoss.com/en/service-and-support/case-studies/dds/electrificationand-sector-coupling-achieve-co2-goals-at-flexheat-nordhavn/, Apr. 2019.
- [28] S. Shao, M. Pipattanasomporn, and S. Rahman, "Development of physical-based demand response-enabled residential load models," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 607–614, 2013. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/ stamp.jsp?arnumber=6266721.
- [29] M. A. S. T. Ireshika, Home energy management system a home energy management system under different electricity pricing mechanisms, https://uia.brage.unit.no/uiaxmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/220856/EN-500%202014%20spring%20Master% 27s%20thesis%20Ireshika.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, 2014.
- [30] Energibruk i bygg nve, https://www.nve.no/energibruk-effektivisering-ogteknologier/energibruk/energibruk-i-bygg/?ref=mainmenu, Sep. 2019.
- [31] B. R. Paudyal and A. G. Imenes, Performance assessment of field deployed multi-crystalline pv modules in nordic conditions, https://app.cristin.no/results/show.jsf?id= 1752742, 2019.
- [32] Invt inverter 7kw (3-fas), https://solcellespesialisten.no/invt-inverter-7kw-3-fas.html.
- [33] Om prismodellene lyse elnett, https://www.lysenett.no/nettleie/smarttariff/ om-prismodellene.
- [34] M. L. Kolhe, S. Kolhe, and J. C. Joshi, Economic viability of stand-alone solar photovoltaic system in comparison with diesel-powered system for india - sciencedirect, Mar. 2002. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0140988301000950%7D.

- [35] M. L. Kolhe, M. I. U. Ranaweer, and A. SisaraGunawardan, Techno-economic sizing of offgrid hybrid renewable energy system for rural electrification in sri lanka - sciencedirect, Sep. 2015. [Online]. Available: %5Curl%7Bhttps://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S2213138815000259%7D.
- [36] Solcellepanel-solceller på ditt tak | fjordkraft, https://www.fjordkraft.no/solcellepanel/ ?gclid=CjOKCQjwlN32BRCCARIsADZ-J4tIf29wjshZkPKH1jrtEsgPa58m6i_UzY171N2zgo4HOpQMzFpG wcB#/.

Appendix A

Appendix A

A.1 Excel worksheet



Figure A.1: No storage



Figure A.2: With storage

When including the cost of PV system in the mortgage it was found that a annual loan price of 1631 NOK is needed for break-even investment. In this case, the inverter is also replaced after 15 years.

A.2 MatLab script

```
%% Heater model
V_tank=80; %volume of the tank in gallons
%fr=xlsread;%water usage in gallons per minute
T inlet1=20; %inlet water temperature in Celsius
T inlet = (T inlet1 *9/5)+32; %conversion to Fahrenheit
%P_WH=4; %power consumption of water heater
A_tank=14; %surface area of the tank
R_tank=16; %heat resistance of the tank
Ts1 WH=60; %water temperature set point Celsius
Ts_WH=(Ts1_WH*9/5)+32; %conversion to Fahrenheit
T_outlet_i1=1; %initial temperature water_ Celsius
T_outlet_i=(T_outlet_i1*9/5)+32; %conversion to Fahrenheit
T_outlet_i2 =(T_outlet_i1 * 9/5)+32;
eff WH=0.8; % efficiency of the water heater
Delta_Temp_WH=11; %allowable temperature band_ Celsius
Temp_low1=Ts1_WH-Delta_Temp_WH; %lower limit of water temperature
Temp_low = (Temp_low1 * 9/5) + 32; %conversion to Fahrenheit
Ta1=20; % Ambient temperature in Celsius
Ta = (Ta1 * 9/5)+32; % convert to Fahrenheit
IWH_rated=2500/230; %Rated current of water heater
%% Residential load
V_sys=230*10^-3; %System voltage
%——Interpolate for minutely values——%
g1 = 1:60:8760*60;
gi = 1:1:8760 * 60;
Load1=readmatrix ('37.26kWh.txt.xlsx'); % Read data for residential load
Total_Load=interp1(g1,Load1,gi); %Interpolate for minutely values
Total Load (isnan (Total Load))=0; % Convert NaN to 0
I_l=Total_Load/V_sys; % Load current
a1=findpeaks(I_I, 'MinPeakDistance',43200); % Find peaks interval -> monthly
d=52560;
```

```
a2=reshape(repmat(a1,d,1),1,[]);

I_g=a2/2; %Grid limit half of monthly max

%% Solar

P_max=230; % peak power (W)

Cell_eff = 22.7; % Cell efficiency (%)

Panel_eff = 18.5; % Panel efficiency (%)

V_rated = 40.5; % Rated voltage (V) Vmpp

I_rated = 5.68; % Rated current (A) Impp

V_oc = 48.2; % Open circuit voltage (V)

I_sc = 6.05; % Short circuit current (I)

V_max = 600; % Max system voltage (V)

Area = 32.5; % Area of solar panels
```

```
%aggregate timetable data (for future)
       %—
TT = table2timetable(Irradiance); % Timetable
output=retime(TT, 'daily', 'mean'); % Daily mean irradiance
newTimes = [datetime('2015-01-01200:00:00'): minutes(1): datetime('2015-2212-
31223:59:00')]; % Time interval
TT2 = retime(TT, newTimes, 'mean'); % Mean irradiance over time interval
Table = timetable2table(TT2(:,1)); % Convert to table
SolarIrradiance = table2array(TT2); % Solar irradiance daily (minutely) m^2
PV_prod=SolarIrradiance*Area*Panel_eff*10^-2*10^-3;
% Solar production for household
%PV_prod = 0.5 * (fillmissing(PV_prod1, 'previous') + fillmissing(PV_prod1, 'ne
PV_prod(isnan(PV_prod))=0; % convert NaN to 0
I_PV=PV_prod/(V_sys); % PV current
%% Pricing solar
Install_cost = 102309; %cost of installing (kr)
Operating_cost=102309*0.02; % Operating cost 2% of install cost
Lifetime = 25; %Lifetime of solar panels in years
%% Initial values
fr=readmatrix('gpm.xlsx'); % GPM in time slot i
fr_1=fr(:,2); % read all rows column 2
fr_i=repmat(fr_1,365,1); % Repeat matrix for 365 days
       %Initial value
i = 1;
charge=0; %Initial value
delta_T = 1/60; % MInute
%P_WHi = zeros(1, 1440);
WWHi=0; %Initial value
WWHi 1=0; %Initial value
for i = 1:1:525600 %Minutely iteration (year)
    I_b(i)=I_g(i)-I_l(i); % Current available to Water heater
                                % If PV current is larger than load
    if I_PV(i) > I_I(i)
        I_b(i) = I_PV(i) - I_l(i);
       % Current available to boiler – Excess current after load
    end
    if I_b(i)>IWH_rated % If current is above rated current
       I_b(i)=IWH_rated;
                          % Current is rated current
    end
```

```
I_b(i)=IWH_rated; % WH is charged with rated current
    end
    if T outlet i2 < Temp low % If outlet temp exceeds lower temp (no charge)
       I b(i)=IWH rated;
                           % WH is charged with rated current
    end
    if | b(i)<0
        % If current available to water heater is below zero
        l b(i)=0;
                            % Current is zero
    end
    P WH=I b(i) * V sys;
    % Power to the water heater — current times system voltage
    P WHi=P WH*WWHi;
    % Power to water heater in time slot i — Power times WH status
    P WHi 1=P WH*WWHi 1;
    % Power to water heater in time slot i - no charging power
    WH_charge(i)=P_WH*charge; %Charged power
     T outlet = (T \text{ outlet } i.*(V \text{ tank}-fr i(i)*1)+(T \text{ inlet}*fr i(i)*1))/(V \text{ tank})
     +1/60*(P_WHi*eff_WH*3412-(A_tank*(T_outlet_i-Ta)/R_tank))/V_tank;
     T_outlet_i=T_outlet; % Update outlet temperature
   T_outlet1 = (T_outlet_i2.*(V_tank-fr_i(i)*1)+(T_inlet*fr_i(i)*1))/(V_tank)
   +1/60*(P_WHi_1*eff_WH*3412-(A_tank*(T_outlet_i2-Ta)/R_tank))/V_tank;
   T_outlet_i2=T_outlet1; % Update outlet temperature
       ——Deciding Status of the Water heater—
%____
    if T_outlet_i <Temp_low</pre>
                                  % If outlet temperature exceeds lower temp
        WWHi = 1;
                                         % Water heater status on
        charge =0;
    end
                                         %if temperature exceed max—limit
    if T_outlet_i >=Ts_WH
        WWHi = 0;
                                         % Water heater status off'
        charge =0;
    end
    if I_PV(i)>I_I(i) % If PV current exceeds load current
```

if T_outlet_i < Temp_low % If Outlet temp exceeds lower temp</pre>

```
WWHi = 1;
                                   % Water heater status on for charging
     charge = 1;
     if T_outlet_i >= Ts_WH+17 % If outlet temp exceeds max temp of heater
        WWHi = 0;
         charge = 0;% Water heater status off
     end
end
 if T outlet i2 < Temp low % If outlet temperature exceeds lower temp
    WWHi 1=1;
                                  % Water heater status on
end
 if T_outlet_i2 >=Ts_WH
                                  %if temperature exceed max—limit
    WWHi1=0;
                                     % Water heater status off
end
GS(i)=(PV prod(i)-Total Load(i)-P WHi); % Grid sale
GS_no(i)=(PV_prod(i)-Total_Load(i)-P_WHi_1); %Grid sale, no storage
 if GS(i)<0
                                         % If grid sale is below zero
                                         %Grid sale is zero
    GS(i)=0;
end
 if GS no(i)<0
                                %If grid sale is below zero (no charge)
     GS_no(i)=0;
                                         % GRid sale is zero
end
GP(i)=(Total_Load(i)+P_WHi-PV_prod(i)-WH_charge(i)); %Grid purchase
GP_no(i)=(Total_Load(i)+P_WHi_1-PV_prod(i)); %Grid purchase (no storage)
 if GP(i)<0
                                       % If grid purchase is below zero
    GP(i)=0;
                                                   %Grid purchase is zero
end
 if GP_no(i)<0</pre>
                                        % If grid purchase is below zero
    GP_no(i)=0;
                                                   %Grid purchase is zero
end
 NetLoad(i)=Total Load(i)+P WHi;
%Total residential load including water heater
NetLoad_no(i)=Total_Load(i)+P_WHi_1;
%Total residential load including water heater (no charge)
RES_LOAD=sum(NetLoad)* delta_T;
                                                          % In kWh
RES Load1=sum(NetLoad no)*delta T;
                                                          % In kWh
GP_net=sum(GP)*delta_T;
                                    %Grid purchase storage
GP_net1=sum(GP_no)*delta_T; %Grid purchase no storage
```

```
GS_net=sum(GS)*delta_T;
                                      %Grid sale storage
    GS_net1=sum(GS_no)*delta_T;
                                      %Grid sale no storage
    WHcharge_net=sum(WH_charge)*delta_T;
                                             %Charge up demand in kWh
                             % Residential load (no water heater load)
    NET(i)=Total Load(i);
    Net1=sum(NET)*delta_T;
                                             %In kWh
                                             % Grid contraints in kW
    P_grid(i) = I_g(i) * V_sys;
    Self(i)=PV prod(i)-GS(i);
                                             % Selfconsumption in kW
    Self_no(i)=PV_prod(i)-GS_no(i);
                                       % Selfconsumption in kW (no storage)
    PVnet=sum(PV_prod);
                                             % PV production yearly
    SelfNet=sum(Self);
                                             % Self consumption yearly
    SelfNet_no=sum(Self_no);
                                             % Self consimption yearly (kWh)
    PVconsumption = (SelfNet/PVnet) * 100;
    % Self-consumption in percentage
    PVconsumption no=(SelfNet no/PVnet)*100;
    % Self-consumption in percentage (no storage)
%------Price calculations ------%
    if GP(i)>P_grid(i) % If power purchased from grid is above constraints
        P_over(i) = GP(i) - P_grid(i);
                                                    % Overconsumption
    else P over(i)=0;
                                                    % Else overconsumption is
    end
    if GP_no(i)>P_grid(i)
                                               % No storage overconsumption
        P_over1(i)=GP_no(i)-P_grid(i);
    else P_over1(i)=0;
    end
    if NetLoad_no(i) > P_grid(i)
                                                    % No PV overconsumption
        P_over2(i)=NetLoad_no(i)-P_grid(i);
    else P over2(i)=0;
    end
P(i)=0.7*(GP(i)-P_over(i))*delta_T+(1.25*P_over(i))
*delta_T -0.5*GS(i)*delta_T; %daily energy bill
P1(i)=0.7*(GP_no(i)-P_over1(i))*delta_T+(1.25*P_over(i))
*delta_T - 0.5*GS(i)*delta_T; %daily energy bill no storage
```

P2(i)=0.7*(NetLoad_no(i)-P_over2(i))

```
*delta_T+(1.25*P_over2(i))*delta_T; %Bill without PV
Pnet=sum(P);
                    %Sum of bill
Pnet1=sum(P1);
                    %—.—
Pnet2=sum(P2);
                     %-.-
Bill=Pnet+150+2640; % Total bill
Bill2=Pnet1+150+2640; % Total no storage
Bill3 = Pnet2 + 150 + 2640;
                        %Total bill no PV system
%____
       P_over_net=sum(P_over); % Total overconsumption
P_over_net1=sum(P_over1); %Total overconsumption no storage
P over net2=sum(P over2); % Total overconsumption
if Total_Load(i)>P_grid(i) % If the total load ( no water heater) is above grid
    GP_above(i)=(GP(i)-P_grid(i))*delta_T; % Grid purchase above constraints i
else GP above(i)=0;
                                            % Else O
end
                                            % Grid purchase above contraints (
if Total_Load(i)>P_grid(i)
    GP_above1(i)=(GP_no(i)-P_grid(i))*delta_T; % Grid purchase above contraint
                                                % Else O
else GP above1(i)=0;
end
                                            % Total load above grid limits in p
Loadshift=sum(GP_above);
Loadshift1=sum(GP_above1);
                                            % Total load above with no storage
%-
        ---Save plots -----%
        Plot_T_outlet(i)=(T_outlet -32)*5/9;
        Plot_T_outlet1(i) = (T_outlet1 - 32) * 5/9;
        PlotWWH=WWHi;
        PlotWWH_1=WWHi_1;
        PlotP_WH(i)=P_WHi;
        PlotP_WH1(i)=P_WHi_1;
        PlotTime(i)=i;
        PlotMax WH(i)=Ts1 WH;
        PlotMin_WH(i)=Temp_low1;
end
figure;
[haxes,hline3,hline4] = plotyy(PlotTime,Plot_T_outlet, PlotTime,PlotP_WH);
set (hline3, 'Color', 'b', 'linewidth', 1.5)% to change the first line
```

```
set(hline4, 'Color',[0.2 0.8 0], 'linewidth',1.5) % to change the second line
set(haxes(1), 'ylim',[45,65]);
```

```
set(haxes(1), 'YTick',(45:2:65));
set(haxes(2), 'ylim',[0,4.5]);
set(haxes(2), 'YTick',(0:1:4.5));
set(haxes, 'Xlim',[0,1440]);
set(haxes, 'XTick',(0:60:1440));
set(haxes(2), 'YColor',[0.2 0.8 0])
set (haxes, 'XTickLabel', { '12PM', '1AM', '2AM', '3AM', '4AM', '5AM', '6AM', '7AM', '8AN
grid;
hold on;
plot (PlotTime , PlotMax_WH , 'r', 'linewidth', 1.5);
hold on;
plot(PlotTime, PlotMin_WH, 'r', 'linewidth', 1.5);
title ('Plot 2 of 2 Outlet 2 Water 2 Temperature 2 over 2 Time 2'); % title
ylabel(haxes(1), 'Water Temperature (^0C)') % label left y-axis
ylabel(haxes(2), 'Load Demand (kW) ') % label right y-axis
xlabel(haxes(2), 'Time ? (Minutes)') % label x-axis
figure;
[haxes, hline3, hline4] = plotyy(PlotTime, Plot_T_outlet1, PlotTime, PlotP_WH1);
set (hline3, 'Color', 'b', 'linewidth', 1.5)% to change the first line
set (hline4, 'Color', [0.2 0.8 0], 'linewidth', 1.5) % to change the second line
set(haxes(1), 'ylim', [45,65]);
set(haxes(1), 'YTick',(45:2:65));
set(haxes(2), 'ylim',[0,4.5]);
set(haxes(2), 'YTick',(0:1:4.5));
set(haxes, 'Xlim',[0,1440]);
set(haxes, 'XTick',(0:60:1440));
set(haxes(2), 'YColor',[0.2 0.8 0])
set (haxes, 'XTickLabel', { '12PM', '1AM', '2AM', '3AM', '4AM', '5AM', '6AM', '7AM', '8AV
grid;
hold on;
plot(PlotTime, PlotMax_WH, 'r', 'linewidth', 1.5);
hold on;
plot (PlotTime , PlotMin_WH , 'r', 'linewidth', 1.5);
title ('Plot Pof Outlet Water Temperature Pover Time P'); % title
ylabel(haxes(1),'Water<sup>®</sup>Temperature<sup>®</sup>(^0C)') % label left y-axis
ylabel(haxes(2), 'Load Demand (kW) ') % label right y-axis
xlabel(haxes(2), 'Time 2(Minutes)') % label x-axis
figure;
plot(PlotTime, GP, 'Color', [1 0.5 0.2] );
xlim([1 525600]);
set(gca, 'XTick',[1:43800:525600]);
set(gca, 'xticklabel',{'Jan','Feb','Mar','Apr','May','Jun','Jul','Aug','Sep',
ylim([0.18 9]);
```

```
set(gca, 'TickLength',[0 0])
xlabel('Month@of@the@year');
ylabel('Grid 2 purchase 2 (kW)');
box on
x0 = 50;
y0=25;
width = 558;
height = 178;
set(gcf, 'position',[x0,y0,width,height]);
%
% figure;
% plot(PlotTime, GP_no, 'color', [1 0.9 0.2]);
% xlim([1 525600]);
% set(qca, 'XTick',[1:43800:525600]);
% set(gca, 'xticklabel',{'Jan','Feb','Mar','Apr','May','Jun','Jul','Aug','Sep',
% %ylim([0.18 9]);
% set(gca, 'TickLength', [0 0])
% xlabel('Month of the year');
% ylabel('Grid purchase (kW)');
% box on
% x0=50;
% y0=25;
% width = 558;
% height = 178;
% set(gcf, 'position ', [x0, y0, width, height]);
% figure;
% plot(PlotTime, P_grid, 'Color', [0.7 0.4 0]);
% xlim([1 525600]);
% ylim([0 5])
% set(gca, 'XTick',1:43800:525600);
% set(gca, 'YTick',1:5);
% set(gca, 'xticklabel',{'Jan','Feb','Mar','Apr','May','Jun','Jul','Aug','Sep',
% %ylim([0.18 9]);
% set(gca, 'TickLength', [0 0])
% xlabel('Month of the year');
% ylabel('Power from the grid (kW)');
% box on
% x0=50;
% y0=25;
% width = 558;
% height = 178;
% set(gcf, 'position ', [x0, y0, width, height]);
%
figure;
```

```
plot(PlotTime,GS,'Color',[0.5 0.4 0],'linewidth',0.7);
xlim([1 525600]);
xticks([1:43800:525600]);
xticklabels ({'Jan', 'Feb', 'Mar', 'Apr', 'May', 'Jun', 'Jul', 'Aug', 'Sep', 'Oct', 'Nov
set(gca, 'TickLength',[0 0])
xlabel('Month@of@the@year');
ylabel('Grid2sale2(kW');
legend ('Grid 2 sale 2 with 2 thermal 2 storage', 'Grid 2 sale 2 no 2 storage')
box on
x0 = 50;
y0 = 25;
width = 558;
height = 178;
set(gcf, 'position',[x0,y0,width,height]);
hold on
plot(PlotTime, GS_no,'Color',[0.5 1 0.7],'linewidth',0.7);
%
%
% plot(1:1:1440, fr_1);
% set(gca, 'XTick',[0:60:1440]);
% set(gca, 'xticklabel',{'1','2','3','4','5','6','7','8','9','10','11','12','
% xlabel('Time (h)');
% ylabel('GPM');
% grid;
%
% figure;
% plot(PlotTime, Selfconsumption, 'Color', [0.1 0.1 1], 'linewidth', 0.7)
% xlim([1 525600]);
% xticks ([1:43800:525600]);
% xticklabels ({'Jan', 'Feb', 'Mar', 'Apr', 'May', 'Jun', 'Jul', 'Aug', 'Sep', 'Oct', 'N
% %ylim([0.18 9]);
% set(gca, 'TickLength', [0 0])
% xlabel('Month of the year');
% ylabel('Self consumption (%)');
% legend ('Self consumption with thermal storage', 'Self consumption no storage
% box on
% x0=50;
% y0=25;
% width = 558;
% height = 178;
% set(gcf, 'position ', [x0, y0, width, height]);
% hold on
% plot(PlotTime, Selfconsumption_no,'Color',[0.1 1 0.1],'linewidth',0.7);
```


Figure A.3: Inverter used for capital investment